



Constitution of Grietjie Private Nature Reserve

INDEX

1 NAME	2
2 MEMBERSHIP OF BALULE NATURE RESERVE	2
3 LEGAL NATURE OF THE ASSOCIATION	
4 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	2
5 DEFINITIONS	
6 DOMICILIUM	2
7 OBJECTIVES	2
8 POWERS OF THE ASSOCIATION	4
9 MEMBERSHIP OF THE ASSOCIATION	4
10 RIGHTS OF MEMBERS	5
11 DUTIES OF MEMBERS	7
12 SUBDIVISIONS	9
13 MEETINGS OF THE ASSOCIATION	9
14 VOTING	10
15 APPOINTMENT OF THE COMMITTEE	11
16 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE COMMITTEE	12
17 WARDEN	14
18 COMMERCIALISATION AND ECO-TOURISM	14
19 CONTROL OF GAME	17
20 FIRE MANAGEMENT	18
21 DISPUTES	18
22 DURATION AND DISSOLUTION	18
23 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION.	19
24 INDEMNITY	19
25 BOOKS OF ACCOUNT AND ECORDS	19
26 ANNUAL FINANCIAL ESTIMATE, FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND REPORT	20
27 DEPOSIT AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS	20
28 BREACH	21
29 ANNEXURES	21



1 NAME

1.1 The name of the ASSOCIATION is the GRIETJIE PRIVATE NATURE RESERVE.

2 MEMBERSHIP OF BALULE NATURE RESERVE

It is duly noted that the GRIETJIE PRIVATE NATURE RESERVE is a member of the Balule Nature Reserve, who will represent the GRIETJIE PRIVATE NATURE RESERVE at all bodies or forums at which Nature Reserves are represented, like the A.P.N.R.

3 LEGAL NATURE OF THE ASSOCIATION

This voluntary association shall-

- 3.1 Be an association of persons under common law;
- 3.2 Be a legal persona distinct from its MEMBERS;
- 3.3 Have perpetual succession;
- 3.4 Not pursue the object of profit or gain either for itself or its MEMBERS.

4 LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

A MEMBER shall not be liable for any obligations of the ASSOCIATION.

5 DEFINITIONS

In this constitution words and phrases:

- 5.1 Incorporating one gender shall be deemed to include the other genders;
- 5.2 In the singular shall include the plural and vice versa;
- 5.3 Defined herein shall have the meanings set out against each and cognate expressions shall be similarly construed:
- 5.4 "A.P.N.R" means the Association of Private Nature Reserves made up to representation from Klaserie, Timbavati, Umbabat and Balule Nature Reserves and the Kruger National Park.
- 5.5 "ASSOCIATION" means GRIETJIE PRIVATE NATURE RESERVE and the legal relationship arising from this agreement.
- 5.6 "BNR" means Balule Nature Reserve.
- 5.7 "CHAIRMAN" means the person who presides over general meetings of the ASSOCIATION and meetings of the COMMITTEE.



- 5.8 “COMMITTEE” means the management body of the ASSOCIATION whose members are appointed under the provisions of clause 15.
- 5.9 “CONCESSION” means a right as approved of by the ASSOCIATION and the relevant legal authority.
- 5.10 “CONSTITUTION” means this agreement in terms of which members are associated
- 5.11 “FINANCIAL YEAR END” means the last day of June unless another month end is approved by the committee, in which case the new date will be the same as the date selected by the COMMITTEE.
- 5.12 “KNP” means the Kruger National Park.
- 5.13 “LAND” means immovable property, which forms part of the RESERVE.
- 5.14 “MEMBERS” means the persons, excluding an honorary member or an ex officio member, constituting legal land owners as individuals, partners or directors representing a partnership or companies that may own such land and who have signed the constitution of the ASSOCIATION.
- 5.15 “PERSON” means a natural PERSON and any association of natural persons of legal personae, whether incorporated or not.
- 5.16 “RESERVE” Means all the LAND which together comprises The GRIETJIE NATURE RESERVE as listed in Schedule “A” and as may be added to and deducted from in future.
- 5.17 “RULES” means resolutions and decisions of the ASSOCIATION in general meeting and / or decisions and resolutions of the COMMITTEE.
- 5.18 “WARDEN” means the employee of the ASSOCIATION appointed under the provisions of clause 17, or a committee member fulfilling the duties of a warden.
- 5.19 “FOUNDATION MEMBERS” means those members who agree to this constitution by the signing hereof and are paid up members of the ASSOCIATION before or on the 1st of July 2003.
- 5.20 “A MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING” means a MEMBER who has signed this CONSTITUTION of the ASSOCIATION and who is not in default in respect of any payment demanded by the ASSOCIATION or the COMMITTEE, or who has discharged this responsibility at the discretion of the COMMITTEE via the exchange for services and/or resources, where these services and/or resources are deemed of



a suitable barter value in lieu of full discharge of the above requirement. Should part of the requirements of the payments demanded be recovered via the exchange of services and/or resources, the member will still be liable for settlement of the balance in cash or cash deposit.

5.21 "HUNT" means hunt with the intent to kill, and includes-

- a) To search for, lie in wait for, bait, pursue, shoot at, set a snare or trap or disturb with the intent to kill a wild animal or animal, or;
- b) To dart or immobilize a wild or alien animal by any means or method for trophy purposes, or;
- c) To collect or destroy the egg of a bird or reptile.

5.22 "COMMERCIALISATION" means the use of a property for commercial purposes, whereby members of the public make use of the property and the RESERVE, or parts thereof, including but not limited to the following commercial enterprises: Guesthouse; lodge; training facility or school; campsite; bush camp; the provision of any accommodation for financial reward, whether directly, indirectly or in kind; store; stall; teagarden; picnic facilities; pub; permanent or designated parking areas for more than 5 vehicles per 10 ha.
OR: using a property for farming purposes;
OR: using a property for industrial purposes

6 DOMICILIUM

The COMMITTEE shall from time to time determine the address constituting the domicilium citandi et executandi of the ASSOCIATION, subject to the following:

6.1 Such address shall be situated in the magisterial district in which the farm is situated and shall be the address of the chairman or the resident committee member appointed in a general committee meeting.

6.2 The COMMITTEE shall give notice to all owners of any change of such address.

7 OBJECTIVES

To promote and adhere to the Norms and Standards of a Nature Reserve, a Section 23 Protected Area, and as a cooperative member of the GLTFCA (Greater Limpopo Transfrontier Conservation Area), and Greater Kruger.

7.1 To officially proclaim the farm Grietjie 6 KU, or at least 75% of the total hectares, as a Section 23 Protected Area in terms of NEMPA 2003 (National Environmental Management Protected Areas Act, Act 57 2003)



7.2 The sustainable conservation of the Reserve in accordance with the principles, policies and protocols of the Management Authority being Balule Nature Reserve.

7.2.1 Adherence to the principles and policies as laid out in the Management Plan of the Protected Area submitted by Balule Nature Reserve.

7.2.2 Adopting policies as prescribed by the “Norms and Standards of inclusion of Private Nature Reserves into the Register of Protected Areas in South Africa” as gazetted on 3 November 2017, as well as the adoption of all Standard Operating Procedures (SOP’s) and appropriate Protocols listed in the Management plan of Balule Nature Reserve.

7.3 To represent the ASSOCIATION on the Balule Cluster committee, who would in turn represent the ASSOCIATION at the Balule Nature Reserve committee. Balule will represent the ASSOCIATION at the APNR (Association of Private Nature Reserves) and the JMC (Joint Management Committee).

7.4 To promote and further in whatsoever manner it considers necessary or desirable the common interests of the ASSOCIATION and its MEMBERS with regard to the scientific management of the fauna and flora of the RESERVE;

7.5 To represent the MEMBERS externally in matters affecting the RESERVE including BNR membership and the adherence to the GLTFCA cooperative agreement with SANPARKS.

7.6 To merge with or become a member of any other association having substantially the same objectives as the ASSOCIATION and which in the opinion of the ASSOCIATION would be in the best interests of the ASSOCIATION.

7.7 To promote bush atmosphere and appearance within the parameters of the RESERVE and the Management Plan.

7.7.1 To allow the unhindered movement of game so as to afford its members the opportunity to experience an optimal bush environment.

7.7.2 To demonstrate that big 5 / dangerous game and man can coexist on the same landscape, thereby creating the possibility for further areas to join the conservancy.

7.7.3 To use GNR as a pioneering model to support clause 7.7.2

7.8 To maintain and enhance a tranquil, secure and safe haven for animals and humans in as natural an environment as possible

8 POWERS OF THE ASSOCIATION



The ASSOCIATION shall have all the powers of an association of persons including the power to-

8.1 Consider and decide applications for membership;

8.2 Incur such costs in pursuit of its objectives in terms of the Annual Budget as approved by the MEMBERS at the Annual General Meeting or any additional expenditure as approved by the MEMBERS at a Special General Meeting and recover such costs via levies from MEMBERS pro-rata to each MEMBERS total hectares;

8.3 Acquire or divest whether by donation, purchase, exchange, lease or barter, property, both movable and immovable and corporeal and incorporeal, to be held distinct from its MEMBERS;

8.4 Insure its assets against loss or damage;

8.5 Open, operate and close banking accounts;

8.6 Receive, invest and disburse monies for the advancement of its objectives from game management operations which it conducts for the ASSOCIATION;

8.7 Borrow such money or provide such security or procure by guarantee the repayment of such money due by it as may be authorized by resolution of MEMBERS in general meeting;

8.8 Execute agreements for the attainment of any of its objectives;

8.9 Compound, give time in respect of, settle or abandon any proceedings brought by or against it;

8.10 Affiliate with or contribute cash to anybody of persons having similar objectives to its own in order to facilitate the objective of the ASSOCIATION;

8.11 Make RULES and set policies for the control of the species of fauna and flora and the numbers thereof to be acquired, conserved and protected, exchanged, captured or otherwise managed in the RESERVE and execute such RULES and policies;

8.12 Employ, dismiss and settle the terms of employment of the WARDEN, employees, professional persons, experts, research workers, advisors, agents and others;

8.13 Make RULES for the regulation and conduct of its MEMBERS, provided such rules are essential for the attainments of its objectives;

8.14 Terminate the membership, fine or fence out MEMBERS for contraventions of the CONSTITUTION, the RULES or any of the terms or conditions of any CONCESSION or consent given to a MEMBER;

8.15 Refer any disputes to arbitration subject to the provision of clause 21



8.16 Invite the patronage of and grant honorary membership to any persons it considers desirable;

8.17 Prohibit illegal and unapproved hunting and fishing on the RESERVE.

8.18 Conduct legal proceedings in its own name;

8.19 Provide the necessary staff, infrastructure and logistic support to participate in research programmes and implementing management and maintenance programmes necessary for the attainment of its objectives;

8.20 Implement the principles and policies underlying the Master plan for the management of the APNR in as far as it relates to the scientific preservation and management of the fauna and flora;

8.21 Represent the ASSOCIATION on the COMMITTEE of the Balule Nature Reserve

8.22 Represent its MEMBERS externally in all matters affecting the RESERVE;

8.23 Enter into agreements with adjacent land owners procuring the unfettered movement of game across such land on such terms and conditions it may deem fit;

8.24 Appoint a COMMITTEE and / or subcommittees to be responsible for the day to day management of the RESERVE, or sections thereof;

8.25 Delegate all of its powers to the COMMITTEE in terms of clause 16;

8.26 Erect, maintain and patrol at the cost of the ASSOCIATION the perimeter and internal boundary fences of the RESERVE should there be any;

8.27 Make and maintain the internal access roads;

8.28 Determine the procedure for carrying out disciplinary enquiries;

8.29 Represent its MEMBERS to procure documentation or any information required to officially proclaim the farm, or portions of the farm Grietjie as an officially recognized Nature Reserve.

9 MEMBERSHIP OF THE ASSOCIATION

9.1 A person desiring to join the ASSOCIATION or committed to do so in terms of clause 11.3 which shall be considered and decided by the COMMITTEE, given such details of the prospective member as the COMMITTEE shall require.

9.2 On an application for membership being accepted, and notice thereof having been given in writing to the applicant, the applicant shall immediately-

9.3.1 Become entitled to the benefits and privileges of the ASSOCIATION;



9.3.2 Be liable for the joining fee as set by the COMMITTEE.

9.3.3 Become liable for all payments, fees and subscriptions due for the year in which he is accepted;

9.3.4 Sign and be bound by this CONSTITUTION and RULES, and shall be presumed to be aware of all the provisions of the CONSTITUTION and RULES as they may be amended from time to time in terms of clause 23

9.4 Subscriptions shall be due and payable upon acceptance as a MEMBER, and all other payments and fees on such date as the COMMITTEE may decide. If any MEMBER shall fail to pay any sum due and payable, the TREASURER shall immediately notify him of such non-payment, and, if the sum be not paid within a month of such notification the MEMBER shall at the discretion of the COMMITTEE cease to be a MEMBER of the ASSOCIATION. This discretionary right shall not restrict its other legal remedies to collect funds owing to it in respect of the subscription and fees contemplated in clause 9.3.2 and 9.3.3

9.5 All future membership fees, land levies and subscriptions shall be set by the COMMITTEE and decided upon at the annual general meeting of MEMBERS by a simple majority of votes cast at such a meeting.

9.5.1 Payments of the above can be made in the following ways:

9.5.1.1 Annually within 30 days of receipt of the invoice, subject to a discount to be decided by a simple majority of the members at the AGM or,

9.5.1.2 In 4 quarterly payments or,

9.5.1.3 Monthly payments.

9.5.2 Notwithstanding the above, all accounts for the year must be paid in full by the last day of the financial year, being the 30th of June.

9.5.3 MEMBERS IN GOOD STANDING will be reviewed every quarter of the year. Members in good standing will be those members whose accounts are paid up to the nearest quarter passed.

9.6 A prospective member whose application for membership has been refused shall be entitled to appeal against such refusal to the MEMBERS at the next annual general meeting.

9.7 Membership shall cease in the instance of-

9.7.1 Natural PERSONS upon death, the membership transfers to the beneficiary of the estate, who then becomes the registered MEMBER



9.7.2 Final sequestration;

9.7.3 Partnerships and associations upon the passing of a dissolution resolution or final sequestration;

9.7.4 Companies, close corporations and trusts upon the de-registration or final liquidation of final sequestration;

9.7.5 All registered owners who dispose of their last immovable property forming part of the RESERVE, upon registration of transfer in the name of the new owner;

9.7.6 The COMMITTEE resolving and giving written notice to a MEMBER that he/she/it is in breach of his/her/its obligations under this CONSTITUTION and if such breach is not rectified by the MEMBER within 21 (TWENTY ONE) days of date of posting to the last known postal address of the MEMBER. Any appeal against the notice must be lodged in writing with the COMMITTEE within 42 (FORTY TWO) days of date of posting of the notice, and shall be decided by the arbitration in terms of clause 21;

9.7.7 A MEMBER giving 3 (THREE) months written notice thereof to the COMMITTEE.

9.8 Upon ceasing for any reason to be a MEMBER of the ASSOCIATION: the MEMBER shall remain liable for all amounts due to the ASSOCIATION or amounts, which may later become payable, which were due by him to the ASSOCIATION at the date of the cessation of membership.

9.8.1 The MEMBER shall fulfil all outstanding obligations to the ASSOCIATION.

9.8.2 The MEMBER shall not be entitled to a refund of any fees paid to the ASSOCIATION.

9.8.3 THE ASSOCIATION shall be entitled to erect a game fence electrified on all sides with gates excluding the MEMBER's or former MEMBER's LAND.

9.9 A MEMBER or former MEMBER shall have no claim against the ASSOCIATION for loss or damage suffered by him arising from any bona fide actions of the COMMITTEE or any of the ASSOCIATION's employees.

9.10 Contravention of the CONSTITUTION and / or RULES by an owner of a share in undivided LAND shall entitle the ASSOCIATION to act against the entire undivided LAND in which such share is held.

10 RIGHTS OF MEMBERS

The rights of a MEMBER to the ASSOCIATION are-



10.1 Subject to restrictions imposed by the CONSTITUTION, to enjoy all the benefits of ownership of the LAND which entitled him to membership;

10.2 To exercise any CONCESSION granted to him;

10.3 To appeal to the members in general meeting against any condition imposed in a CONCESSION granted to him;

10.4 To exercise any commercial rights granted to him by the COMMITTEE.

10.5 Membership of the ASSOCIATION shall NOT bestow upon MEMBERS any traversing rights with regard to the land or roads of other MEMBERS.

11 DUTIES OF MEMBERS

The duties of a MEMBER to the ASSOCIATION are:

11.1 To act at all times in line with the ethos of a nature reserve and not to disturb fauna, flora or any other MEMBERS.

11.2 To abide by the CONSTITUTION, RULES and resolutions of the ASSOCIATION and to ensure observance thereof by his relatives, visitors, clients, employees, lessee and generally anybody who may be on his LAND;

11.3 To encourage any prospective purchaser or person who succeeds to ownership of his LAND, any portion thereof or interest therein, to be bound in writing by all the

provisions of the CONSTITUTION, RULES and resolutions of the ASSOCIATION, and to apply for membership in terms of Clause 9.

11.4 To do all things necessary and execute or supply or sign all such documents as may be necessary to proclaim the farm Grietjie or parts thereof as a Nature Reserve as set out in Clause 8.30 above.

11.5 To maintain their own roads;

11.6 To support the Fire Policy in Section 20 and further

11.6.1 Not to hold any other MEMBER liable for damage caused by a fire spreading from one plot to another, save for any gross negligent activity that a MEMBER has committed which has resulted in the spread of a fire and subsequent damage.

11.6.2 To ensure that proper control of all fires started on the reserve; including employees cooking fires are maintained in order to prevent the spread of such fires.

11.7 To confirm with the WARDEN that employees and potential employees are not detrimental to the safety and security of the community.



11.8 Not to apply directly to the Department of Nature Conservation or any other authority for any hunting permit or CONCESSIONS.

11.9 To obey and abide by all controls and security measures imposed by the ASSOCIATION with regards to entrance and exit gates.

11.10 Not to undertake any business activities not in keeping with a nature Reserve.

11.11 To ensure that no domestic animals like cows, goats or sheep are kept on the RESERVE.

11.12 To ensure that all domestic cats on GRIETJIE are sterilized to ensure no cross breeding with indigenous African Wild Cats.

11.13 To keep the numbers of domestic dogs and cats to a minimum with a view to reducing their numbers in the RESERVE as much as possible.

11.14 To ensure that all domestic dogs and cats are vaccinated against Rabies.

11.15 To ensure that all domestic animals are confined to the vicinity of their camp, or that they are restrained on a leash when outside of their camp.

12 SUBDIVISIONS

12.1 The MEMBERS undertake not to subdivide any property below 21 hectares or 10 hectares if the property borders on the Olifants River.

12.2 All subdivisions must be approved by the ASSOCIATION.

13 MEETINGS OF THE ASSOCIATION

13.1 An annual general meeting of the MEMBERS shall be held at a venue convenient to the MEMBERS not later than 3 months after the end of its financial year.

13.2 A special general meeting of MEMBERS shall be held on written request to the COMMITTEE, which shall set out the purposes of the meeting. The special general meeting can be requested by:

13.2.1 A MEMBER punished under the provisions of clause 8.14;

13.2.2 MEMBERS holding not less than one third of all the votes which MEMBERS could cast.

13.3 General meetings shall be convened by the CHAIRMAN on approval of the COMMITTEE, who shall give notice thereof in writing to all MEMBERS. Such notices



shall be given in the case of annual general meetings and special general meetings four weeks and two weeks respectively before the dates of such meetings.

13.4 Both annual general meetings and special general meetings shall have the power to raise, discuss and decide any matter whatsoever provided that any resolutions which purports to effect amendments to this CONSTITUTION shall be posted or emailed to MEMBERS together with the Notice convening the meeting provided for in clause 13.3

13.5 A quorum for a general meeting shall be one third of the total number of MEMBERS IN GOOD STANDING, present, or by proxy.

13.5.1 If the motion is to be decided by **ELECTRONIC VOTE**, a quorum will be achieved when one third of the MEMBERS IN GOOD STANDING have submitted their votes.

13.5.2 Constitutional amendments decided via **ELECTRONIC VOTE** will require a 75% majority of the **ELECTRONIC VOTES** cast to be adopted.

13.6 The CHAIRMAN of the COMMITTEE or his nominee shall act as CHAIRMAN of the general meeting.

13.7 The COMMITTEE through the CHAIRMAN shall prescribe the procedure to be adopted by any general meeting, save that

13.7.1 All matters shall be decided by a show of hands, provided that decisions shall be by ballot on a motion to that effect by a MEMBER duly seconded;

13.7.2 The CHAIRMAN shall have a deliberative vote and in the case of an equal division the CHAIRMAN shall also have a casting vote;

13.7.3 A general meeting may be adjourned once to such time as the majority of MEMBERS present direct, provided that no business shall be considered at such adjourned meeting which could not have been transacted at the original meeting, and save that no notices of such adjournment need be given.

13.7.4 If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time fixed for the meeting, the meeting shall be adjourned by the CHAIRMAN

13.8 A declaration by the CHAIRMAN that a resolution has been made and the voting for and against such resolution, with an entry in the minute shall be conclusive of the facts therein stated.

14 VOTING



At every general meeting of the ASSOCIATION a MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING shall have one vote for each plot owned, and levies paid for, provided the Association fee has also been paid.

14.1 Each company, partnership, association, close corporation, institution, trust, statutory or other body owning LAND in the area comprising the GRIETJIE NATURE RESERVE shall be deemed to be a single voting MEMBER; provided that such entity is a MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING. Such organizations must provide a resolution identifying the individual entitled to vote on their behalf.

14.2 A MEMBER shall be entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to represent him at any general meeting of the ASSOCIATION and to vote on his behalf. The proxy shall be in writing and be lodged with the COMMITTEE not less than 48 hours before the time of the meeting and if not so lodged the CHAIRMAN shall be entitled to ignore it.

14.3 Any resolution to be proposed at a general meeting of the ASSOCIATION save those for amendments to the CONSTITUTION, shall be passed by a simple majority of the votes cast at such a meeting.

15 APPOINTMENT OF THE COMMITTEE

15.1 The affairs of the ASSOCIATION shall be managed by the COMMITTEE consisting of a maximum of 8 and a minimum of 5 MEMBERS, excluding the WARDEN referred to in clause 17.

15.2 At each annual general meeting of the ASSOCIATION after the first meeting, the entire COMMITTEE shall retire. A retiring member shall be eligible to be re-elected.

15.3 Nominations for election to the COMMITTEE may be made in person or by proxy at the annual general meeting, and only paid up MEMBERS IN GOOD STANDING, and fulfilling the membership criteria may be nominated.

15.4 The CHAIRMAN, Treasurer, Vice Chairman and Secretary shall be elected by the MEMBERS at the annual general meeting by a simple majority of votes, either by a show of hands or by secret ballot. The COMMITTEE shall at its first meeting elect from their number the remaining portfolios not elected at the AGM. Office bearers may only hold the same office for three consecutive years, unless by a 75% vote of members in good standing at a general meeting of the ASSOCIATION this period is extended.

15.4.1 The COMMITTEE can, in addition to the portfolios currently employed in the running of the reserve, create and maintain a Security Portfolio. The COMMITTEE member in charge of this portfolio may establish a security sub-committee which is open to all owners of Grietjie. The COMMITTEE member in charge will liaise with the WARDEN, APU and the Balule Cluster security representative. The Cluster representative will coordinate with the SAPS and CPF when required.

15.5 A quorum for a meeting of the COMMITTEE shall be 50% of its members.



15.6 A meeting of the COMMITTEE shall be convened by the CHAIRMAN or his nominee, or by a quorum of the COMMITTEE.

15.7 The COMMITTEE shall be entitled to co-opt additional members for a specific task or to fill a casual vacancy. A co-opted member shall in any event cease to be such at the next annual general meeting of the ASSOCIATION after he was co-opted. The co-opted member has no voting rights on the COMMITTEE.

15.8 The CHAIRMAN of the COMMITTEE and in his absence the vice CHAIRMAN shall preside at all meetings of the COMMITTEE. At the meetings of the COMMITTEE, the member presiding at the meeting shall in addition have a casting vote. A simple majority of votes cast by members present, being not less than a quorum, shall be required to pass a resolution.

15.9 Only one member per title deed may be represented on the COMMITTEE.

15.10 A member of the COMMITTEE-

15.10.1 Who absents himself from three consecutive meetings of the COMMITTEE without a reason acceptable to the COMMITTEE shall cease to be a member of the COMMITTEE;

15.10.2 May be removed from office by a unanimous decision of MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE on condition that a full disciplinary procedure has been followed as per the conditions for an employee of the reserve. The member in question will have no vote in this instance.

15.10.3 Who fails to remain in GOOD STANDING for a consecutive period of more than 2 months shall cease to be a member of the COMMITTEE - unless there are extenuating circumstances and assurance is given that any outstanding amount will be paid within 1 month of the said member being informed of the default in writing by the TREASURER

15.11 A resolution of the COMMITTEE signed by its members (being not less than a 75% of its number) shall be as effective and valid as if it had been passed at a meeting of the COMMITTEE.

15.12 Minutes of the meetings of the COMMITTEE shall be kept and shall be placed in the minute book of the COMMITTEE from time to time.

15.13 The CHAIRMAN of the COMMITTEE, or any person appointed by the COMMITTEE, shall be the duly authorized representative of the ASSOCIATION in any legal proceedings brought by or against the ASSOCIATION.

16 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE COMMITTEE



16.1 All assets of the ASSOCIATION shall vest in the COMMITTEE, who shall manage such assets on behalf of the ASSOCIATION.

16.2 The powers delegated by the ASSOCIATION to the COMMITTEE are powers granted in clause 8.

16.3 The COMMITTEE shall not allow access to MEMBER's property for purposes other than those essential for the attainment of its objectives.

16.4 The COMMITTEE shall have the right to waive subscriptions and or levies of prospective members should it deemed to be in the interest of the ASSOCIATION.

17 WARDEN

17.1 An executive official of the COMMITTEE called the WARDEN could be appointed by the COMMITTEE, provided that, if a WARDEN is not appointed, a COMMITTEE MEMBER will perform such functions.

17.2 The WARDEN shall be an ex officio MEMBER of the ASSOCIATION and of the COMMITTEE and shall be entitled to deliberate at all the general meetings of the MEMBERS and all meetings of the COMMITTEE but shall not have the right to vote thereat.

17.3 The WARDEN shall perform such functions and carry out such duties as shall be set out in his TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT.

17.4 No employee, or person appointed by the ASSOCIATION shall enter the property of another MEMBER other than in the exercise of his/ her duties and specifically so authorised by the WARDEN or COMMITTEE.

17.5 The WARDEN is not obliged to assist MEMBERS with their vehicles, boreholes, roads, payments to their staff or render any other personal services, so as to optimise the beneficial use of his time by the ASSOCIATION, unless authorised to do so by the COMMITTEE.

18 COMMERCIALISATION AND ECO-TOURISM

The COMMITTEE shall have the power to decide if any commercialisation of any property will be allowed and such approval will not be unreasonably withheld. No development of whatever nature may exceed the ratio of development set out below:

18.1 COMMERCIAL AUTHORISATION PERMIT (hereafter refer to as **CAP**)

18.1.1 A total of 12 **FULL CAPs** and will be allocated within the RESERVE

18.1.2 These will be for commercial eco-tourism ventures only



18.1.3 Up to a maximum 200 guest beds in the RESERVE may be allocated to commercial accommodation. The unallocated beds remaining after the allocation of beds to the **FULL CAPS**, can be allocated to **CONDITIONAL CAPS**. The 12 **FULL CAPS** can apply using the ratio of 1 guest bed per 2 hectares (see 18.2 ALLOCATION CRITERIA). Guest beds refers to the number of commercial guests staying the night i.e. 2 people in a double bed would be considered 2 guest beds.

18.1.4 Priority for **FULL CAPS** will be given to:

Firstly to those who are currently running existing commercial operations, then, Secondly to those who have expressed interest in running a commercial operation to the COMMITTEE at / or prior to the Annual General Meeting held on 22nd September 2007.

18.2 ALLOCATION CRITERIA:

The number of guest beds allocated to a property or collection of properties applying for **FULL CAPS** will be allocated using the following criteria:

18.2.1 A maximum of 200 guest beds may be allocated on the RESERVE, including both **FULL CAPS** and **CONDITIONAL CAPS**.

18.2.2 The number of guest beds per **FULL CAP** will be allocated on a 1 guest bed per 2 hectare basis. **CONDITIONAL CAPS** are limited to 4 guest beds maximum, and must be within the existing house on the property applying. **CONDITIONAL CAPS** may not build any new buildings or facilities to accommodate guests. **CONDITIONAL CAPS** are issued to the owner at the time of application. If the property is sold or there is a change in controlling interest in the legal entity that owns the property, the **CONDITIONAL CAP** is automatically revoked and returned to the **COMMITTEE**.

18.2.3 The total number of combined owners, shareholders, staff members, non-paying guests living on the property may not exceed the guest bed numbers.

18.2.4 If more than one property is to be used to apply for a **FULL CAP**, then all properties must be contiguous, and must first be consolidated into one title deed.

18.2.5 The footprint of all structures on the property (or properties) of a **FULL CAP** that has a roof of any type (including temporary structures) will be limited to 85m² per guest bed. All structures must be single storey. **CONDITIONAL CAPS** are limited to existing house only.

18.2.6 Notwithstanding paragraph 18.2.5, should existing commercial ventures (**FULL CAP**) have a bulk and/or footprint (whichever is the greater) at the date of



the Annual General Meeting on 22nd September 2007, more than what would have been allocated, the existing footprint and/or bulk will apply for that permit but may not be added to or altered in any way. If the footprint and/or bulk is altered in any way, the new maximum footprint (as per clauses 18.1.3 and 18.2.2) will apply and be calculated on 85m² per guest bed, based on 1 guest bed per 2 ha for **FULL CAPs** only.

18.2.7 Guest bed allocation for **FULL CAPs** is per property and the **CAP** for the number of guest beds stays with the property and may not be sold, leased or assigned to any other property on the **RESERVE**.

18.3 CONDITIONS OF GRANTING A CAP

18.3.1 All CAPs issued will only become valid once all provincial and local regulations have been adhered to, and all necessary permits and permissions have been granted by the relevant authorities.

18.3.2 CAP holders will have to have PUBLIC LIABILITY insurance in accordance with the norms of the industry for operations within Big 5 reserves.

18.3.3 Will achieve a minimum of a 3 star grading on TripAdvisor or 7,5 star grading on Booking.com for the appropriate category (Lodge, Self-catering etc.).

18.3.4 The Owner or entity to whom or which the CAP has been issued agrees to suspend all commercial activities should the permit be withdrawn by the COMMITTEE.

18.3.5 Any property granted a CAP that does not make or attempt to make use of that CAP, at the discretion of the COMMITTEE, within a period of 24 months from date of issue will forfeit their right to that CAP and the CAP may be re allocated.

18.3.6 The CAP will be suspended if any of these above conditions are breached until such time as the breach is rectified to the COMMITTEE'S satisfaction.

18.4 OTHER COMMERCIAL VENTURES

18.4.1 No commercial ventures of any kind will be given permits save those issued with one of the **12 FULL CAP or CONDITIONAL CAP** permits. The RESERVE will not support any other type of commercial venture.

18.4.2 Home offices and 'cottage industries' are not considered commercial ventures.

18.4.3 No new commercial farming permits (including buffalo breeding) will be issued, as this land use is in direct conflict with the **Balule Management**



Plan. Buffalo breeding projects that were MEMBERS of the RESERVE as of the Grietjie Annual General Meeting dated 22nd September 2007, will have permits issued to them allowing for the continuation of that farming activity until such time as the farming ceases or **the declaration of the RESERVE as Section 23 Protected Area (NEMPA 2003), or the properties are sold (whichever comes first) will invalidate the permit issued.**

18.5 OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS (CAPs)

18.5.1 No property having a CAP may make use of on their property, or on the RESERVE'S access roads Motorbikes, Quad bikes or similar combustion engine device as decided upon by the COMMITTEE, other than to access the property (the vehicle being used must be registered and have the appropriate relevant license if applicable).

18.5.2 All CAPs must ensure compliance with the GLUBR regulations in respect of light pollution and external structure appearance.

18.5.3 Noise levels will be kept to a reasonable minimum as determined by the COMMITTEE.

18.5.4 Game drive and guest transport vehicles used on the Reserve:

18.5.4.1 Should be in roadworthy condition (Excluding licence disk).

18.5.4.2 Should clearly display the property number on at least 2 sides of the vehicle.

18.5.5 All drivers that transport paying guests on the reserve must have the necessary PrDP permit (Professional driving permit) as required by the authorities. Proof if such must be submitted to the COMMITTEE on request.

18.5.6 All Guides employed by CAP holders must:

18.5.6.1 Be in possession of a valid guiding qualification as required by the authorities, proof of which must be submitted to the COMMITTEE on request.

18.5.6.2 Sign a declaration that they have read and understood the Game Drive Code of Conduct.

18.5.6.3 Be appropriately dressed whilst conducting game drives.



18.5.7 CAP holders will elect a current CAP holder in good standing as the CAP representative to be co-opted onto the COMMITTEE. This representative will also be responsible for the collection and furnishing of the relevant CAP documentation as required by the COMMITTEE.

18.5.8 CAP holders that have permission to traverse on private property within the Reserve must furnish proof of such agreements to the COMMITTEE on request.

18.5.9 CAP holders should not allow their guests to alight from the game drive vehicle on the Reserve, save for those areas demarcated as such, or if on their property or properties where they have specific permission to do so. Proof of such permission must be submitted to the COMMITTEE on request.

18.5.10 CAP holders may never exceed their allocated number of beds. The COMMITTEE can perform inspections from time to time, by prior arrangement.

18.5.11 No guests booked in at CAP property may drive themselves on game drives.

19 CONTROL OF GAME

19.1 In order to ensure the free movement of game in the RESERVE, no MEMBER shall erect or construct any fences or barricades on his LAND with the following exceptions:

19.1.1 A fence around his camp or complex.

19.1.2 A fence around bona fide ecological operations such as bomas for animals in transit, capture and release programmes and wild animal breeding projects. Such operations must be approved by the committee, whose approval will not be unreasonably withheld.

19.2 In view of the fact that GRIETJIE PRIVATE NATURE RESERVE has no boundary between itself and any other MEMBER ASSOCIATION of Balule Nature Reserve, the control of game will be determined by Balule Nature Reserve through scientific studies and assessments. If the numbers of game is deemed to be in excess of what is recommended for the area, game will be removed by live capture and/or killing by suitably qualified personnel. Any funds generated will be apportioned according to the protocols determined by the Balule Federal Committee. The balance will be retained by the ASSOCIATION for the benefit of the RESERVE.

19.2.1 MEMBERS will voluntarily grant written permission to the ASSOCIATION to manage and remove game on the MEMBER'S land in terms of clause 19.2 and such permission will be kept on file and will remain in place until such time as it is revoked in writing. The association, via the COMMITTEE and/or WARDEN, will give the members prior notice of such operations.

19.2.2 A MEMBER may not hunt, cull or capture game on any area open to the RESERVE, and may not apply to the Department of Nature Conservation or any other authority for such rights. Any such rights obtained as a result of a direct



application shall not entitle a MEMBER thereto and shall constitute a breach of the provisions of this CONSTITUTION

19.2.3 Any MEMBER who kills or wounds or captures game shall be liable to the ASSOCIATION, in addition to any criminal liability, punishment, fines or penalties imposed upon him, for a compensatory fine of an amount not exceeding the costs required to be incurred by the ASSOCIATION in replacing the animal or animals so killed, wounded or captured, such costs to be determined by the COMMITTEE who shall be deemed to be acting as experts and not as arbitrators and whose decision shall be final and binding.

19.2.4 Any contravention of clause 19.2.3 by a MEMBER's relative, visitor, client, employee or by anybody else, who is on the MEMBER's LAND with his consent, shall be regarded as a contravention by the MEMBER himself.

19.2.5 Any MEMBER who kills or wounds any animals in self-defence or in any other pre-emptive situation must report such occurrence to the COMMITTEE or to the WARDEN within 24 hours and failure to do so shall be regarded as a contravention of clause 19.2.3. The COMMITTEE shall be entitled to investigate such an incident.

19.3 With reference to clauses 7.21 and 8.20, any damage causing animal will be dealt with by the WARDEN in accordance with conditions prescribed by the permit issued by the Provincial Department of Environmental Affairs.

20 FIRE MANAGEMENT

20.1 A Firebreak will be provided in the boundaries of the RESERVE. This will be in accordance with any conditions imposed by the Law and the rule of the Fire Protection Association, if any.

20.2 The COMMITTEE, on behalf of its MEMBERS will apply to the Minister for an exemption from the requirements of Chapter 4 of the National Veld and Forest Fire Act 101/98 re "that every Land Owner must prepare and maintain a firebreak" around the perimeter of their Property.

20.3 The rules and regulations of the relevant Fire Protection Association, if any, shall be binding on all MEMBERS.

20.4 The WARDEN, or his representative, shall be the direct liaison with the Fire Protection Officer appointed by the Minister and all fires, whether planned or accidental shall in the first instance be reported to the WARDEN.

20.5 Landowners on the borders of the reserve will give their support in the preparation and maintenance of boundary firebreaks.



21 DISPUTES

21.1 A dispute arising from an alleged infringement of the provisions of this CONSTITUTION, which remains unresolved after appeal to a general meeting of MEMBERS, the COMMITTEE shall refer the dispute to the BNR Committee who will appoint a suitably qualified arbitrator.

21.2 The arbitrator shall decide on matters submitted to him in accordance to what he considers to be just and equitable in the circumstance and in manner in which substantial justice is done as between the parties.

21.3 The parties agree that the decision in the said arbitration proceedings:

21.3.1 Shall be final and binding on each of them;

21.3.2 Shall be carried into effect;

21.3.3 May be made an order of any court of competent jurisdiction.

22 DURATION AND DISSOLUTION

22.1 The ASSOCIATION shall have perpetual succession.

22.2 The provisions of clause 22.1 notwithstanding, the ASSOCIATION may be dissolved upon the resolution of MEMBERS by a two third majority of the votes cast at a general meeting held for that purpose.

22.3 Upon the dissolution of the ASSOCIATION the assets after payment of its liabilities shall be transferred by the ASSOCIATION at no cost to any other body of persons selected by the COMMITTEE which has substantially similar objects to the ASSOCIATION.

23 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION

23.1 The provisions herein contained shall be known as the constitution of the ASSOCIATION which provisions may be altered by a seventy five percent majority of the votes cast at a general meeting of MEMBERS save-

23.1.1 That the precise terms of any proposed amendments to the CONSTITUTION shall be set out in the notices convening the meeting, and

23.1.2 That the purposes and objects of the ASSOCIATION shall not be altered without the consent of all members.

24 INDEMNITY



24.1 Every COMMITTEE MEMBER or officer or servant of the ASSOCIATION shall be indemnified by the ASSOCIATION against all costs, losses, expenses and claims which he may incur or become liable to by reason of any act done by him in the discharge of his duties, unless such costs, losses, expenses or claims are caused by the male fide or grossly negligent act or omission of such person.

24.2 It shall be the duty of the ASSOCIATION to pay such indemnity out of the funds of the ASSOCIATION

25 BOOKS OF ACCOUNT AND RECORDS

25.1 The COMMITTEE shall cause proper books of account and records to be kept so as fairly to explain the transactions and financial position of the ASSOCIATION, including,

25.1.1 A record of the assets and liabilities of the ASSOCIATION

25.1.2 A record of all sums of money received and expended by the ASSOCIATION and the matters in respect of which such receipt and expenditure occur;

25.1.3 A register of owners showing in each case their addresses;

25.1.4 Individual ledger accounts in respect of each owner.

25.2 On the application of any MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING, the COMMITTEE shall make all or any of the books of account and records available for inspection by such MEMBER.

25.3 The COMMITTEE shall cause all books of account and records to be retained after completion of the Transactions.

26 ANNUAL FINANCIAL ESTIMATE, FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND REPORT

26.1 Before every annual general meeting, the COMMITTEE shall cause to be prepared an itemized estimate of the anticipated income and expenses of the ASSOCIATION during the ensuing financial year, which estimate shall be laid before the annual general meeting for consideration and approval.

26.2 The estimate of expenses referred to in 26.1 shall include a reasonable provision for contingencies.

26.3 The COMMITTEE shall cause to be prepared, and shall lay before every annual general meeting, for consideration a set of financial statements prepared and reviewed by a professional independent accountant, in conformity with generally accepted accounting practice, which statement shall fairly present the state of affairs of the



ASSOCIATION and its finances and transactions as at the end of the financial year concerned.

26.4 The COMMITTEE shall further cause to be prepared and shall lay before every annual general meeting a report signed by the CHAIRMAN reviewing the affairs of the ASSOCIATION during the past year, for consideration.

26.5 The COMMITTEE shall cause copies of the schedules, estimate, audited statement and report referred to in 26.1 through 26.4 to be delivered to each owner at least fourteen days before the date of the annual general meeting at which they are to be considered.

26.6 Delivery under the section 26.5 shall be deemed to have been effected if the documents are sent by prepaid post addressed to the owner at his domicilium as reflected in the records of the ASSOCIATION.

26.7 At the first general meeting and at every annual general meeting, the ASSOCIATION shall appoint an independent professional accountant to hold office from the conclusion of the meeting until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

27 DEPOSIT AND INVESTMENT OF FUNDS

27.1 The COMMITTEE shall cause all moneys received by the ASSOCIATION to be deposited to the credit of an account or accounts with a registered commercial bank in the name of the ASSOCIATION and such moneys shall only be withdrawn for the purpose of payment of the expenses of the ASSOCIATION or for any other purpose that the COMMITTEE deems fit in the fulfilment of the ASSOCIATION'S objectives.

27.2 Any Funds not immediately required for disbursement, may be invested in a savings or similar account with any bank.

27.3 Interest on moneys invested shall be used by the ASSOCIATION for lawful purpose.

28 BREACH

The COMMITTEE may on behalf of and in the name of the ASSOCIATION institute legal proceedings according to the provision in clause 8.18, as follows:

- a) If any MEMBER breaches any of the provisions of this Constitution and/or fails to comply with any rules or regulations made in terms thereof, the COMMITTEE may on behalf of the ASSOCIATION serve notice on such MEMBER, as provided for in clause 9.7.6, calling upon him or her to remedy such breach within the period thus specified, and
- b) upon failure by the MEMBER to comply and remedy the breach as specified, the COMMITTEE may institute proceedings in any court of competent jurisdiction for such relief as the COMMITTEE may consider necessary, upon which such



MEMBER shall be liable for and shall pay all costs of such proceedings on the scale as between attorney and own client, and all other expenses and charges incurred in obtaining said relief, and

c) the COMMITTEE may claim damages from such MEMBER for such breach, in which case the MEMBER shall be liable for costs on the scale as between attorney and own client.

29 ANNEXURES TO THE CONSTITUTION

Annexures to this Constitution shall be deemed to be incorporated in and form part of this Constitution, provided that such annexures have been accepted and approved in terms of the provisions contained in clause 23.

- A) Grietjie Land Use & Building Regulations (GLUBR).**
- B) Game Drive Code of Conduct.**

Signed

Portion Number

Print Name

Date



Annexure 1:

GRIETJIE LAND USE & BUILDING REGULATIONS GLUBR

RESTRICTIONS ON RIVER PROPERTIES (10 – 13ha):

- **Terms of Establishment, Grietjie 1960 (TEG)**
Restrictions applicable to river properties (1 - 18, 113 – 117 & 124):
 - No sub-division – unless written approval of Townships Board
 - Building restrictions: one dwelling per portion plus outbuilding (Servants Quarters) – unless written approval of Townships Board
 - Land use restrictions: for residential & agricultural purposes only, no business or industry may be opened or conducted - unless written approval of Townships Board is obtained

- **Title Deeds for River Properties** (plots 1 to 18 and 113 to 117)
 - The restrictions of the Terms of Establishment above are documented in the **River Property Title Deeds** and must thus be complied with. A second dwelling for the river plots is therefore not allowed nor is any business use permitted - unless written approval of Townships Board (and GPNR) has been obtained.

OTHER APPLICABLE ACTS

1. NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PROTECTED AREAS ACT (NEMPA) 2003

The application for Protected Area status must include a management (Clause 41) plan and:

“41. (2) A management plan must contain at least a zoning of the area indicating what activities may take place in different sections of the area, and the conservation objectives of those sections.”

This Act requires us to define development regulations and the Management Authority has to enforce compliance.

2. NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT ACT (NEMA) 1998

The Amendment of the Environmental Assessment Regulations Listing Notice 1 of 2014 specifies the following:

“The purpose of this Notice is to identify activities that would require environmental



authorisation prior to commencement of that activity”

An Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) is therefore required for:

- Section 12: Construction of structures 100m² or greater within 32m from the edge of a water course (high flood level mark)
- Section 19: Excavations from or filling to a watercourse of more than 10 cubic metres.
- Section 27: Clearing of indigenous vegetation of **1** ha or more.
- Section 28: Residential or commercial development with an overall development footprint of more than 10,000 m² in an agricultural area.
- Section 30: Any process or activity defined in terms of section 53.(1) of NEMBA 2004 (– eg. “sensitive” areas near a watercourse, riverine areas etc.)

3. LAND USE MANAGEMENT SCHEME of 2008 (LUMS) and SPLUM BY-LAW of 2013

The national Spatial Land Use & Management Act of 2013 (SPLUM Act), defines procedures to be taken to develop and implement a Municipal Spatial Development Framework. The Act also stipulates guidelines on how to deal with offences.

The Ba-Phalaborwa Land Use Management Scheme of 2008 specifies the following for:

AGRICULTURAL ZONING:

- a) Uses Permitted:
 - Agricultural use
 - Farm settlement
 - Nature conservation Area
 - **ONE Dwelling unit** (per portion)
- b) Section 20: Uses/Rights permitted with **SPECIAL CONSENT** of the local Municipality
 - Guest House
 - Caravan park
 - Kennels, Place of instruction
 - And (not really applicable to Grietjie): Institution, Nursery, Place of Public Worship & of Refreshment, Recreation, Social Hall, Farm Stall, Tea Garden, Mining and Telecommunication Mast
- c) Section 21: Uses/Rights permitted only with the **WRITTEN CONSENT** of the local Municipality
 - Additional dwelling unit (maximum one extra dwelling)
- d) **Other uses are not permitted**

In summary, the Spatial Land-use Scheme specifies the land use permitted and **only one dwelling per portion** for agricultural zoning. A **second dwelling may thus only be constructed if written consent has been obtained** from the local Municipality in terms of Section 21 of the Act. More than two dwellings per portion are not allowed under this Act.

Lodges/Guest houses need “Special Consent” under Section 21 to operate in an agricultural zoned area.



GPNR's written approval must be obtained before an application to the authorities is made for an additional dwelling unit or change in land use.

Section 169.(4) is a critical clause as it states that:

“land use that commenced unlawfully, whether before or after the commencement of this By-Law, may not be considered to be the lawful land use”.

Thus this law does not condone any previous wrong doing.

SUMMARY OF LAND USE AND BUILDING REGULATIONS FOR GRIETJIE PRIVATE NATURE RESERVE (GLUBR)

- GPNR:** Grietjie Private Nature Reserve
GCONST: GPNR Constitution
CAP: Commercial Authorisation Permit
SQ: Servants Quarters/ outbuilding
TEG: Terms of Establishment for Grietjie
EIA: Environmental Impact Assessment
SPLUM: Spatial Land Use Management Act (2008) and by-law (2013)
LIMP: Limpopo Provincial Government
NEMA: National Environmental Management Act (1998)
GLUBR: Grietjie Land Use & Building Regulations (this schedule)

DESCRIPTION	APPLICABLE LAW, BASE REGULATIONS	AUTHORITY THAT CAN CHANGE THIS RESTRICTION	WILL BE ENFORCED	OWNERS SHOULD COMPLY
<u>PROPERTY/LAND USE</u>				
<u>RIVER PROPERTIES:</u> the Title Deed specifies land use for residential & agricultural purposes only	TITLE DEED TEG	SPLUM DEEDS OFFICE	Yes	
<u>ZONING</u> Grietjie is zoned as "agricultural"	BSPLUM	SPLUM, NEMPA DEEDS OFFICE	Yes	
<u>RESIDENTIAL</u> - only private, single family accommodation allowed +SQ	SPLUM GLUBR	SPLUM GPNR	Yes	
<u>AGRICULTURAL</u> – no longer allowed as Grietjie is striving for protected area status	GCONST	SPLUM GPNR	Yes	
<u>COMMERCIAL/CAP</u> – a hospitality commercial operation may only be operated if 1. a CAP has been granted by GPNR and	GCONST LIMP SPLUM	GPNR LIMP SPLUM DEEDS OFFICE (for river	Yes	



2. Special Consent has been obtained from the Municipality for change in land use and		properties)		
3. the relevant business permits have been obtained from the province				
<u>NO OTHER BUSINESS/INDUSTRY IS ALLOWED.</u> Any permits for current commercial operations on GPNR will not be extended and will be terminated on the date of property transfer to a new owner.	GCONST SPLUM	GPNR SPLUM DEEDS OFFICE	Yes	
DESCRIPTION	APPLICABLE LAW, BASE REGULATIONS	AUTHORITY THAT CAN CHANGE THIS RESTRICTION	WILL BE ENFORCED	OWNERS SHOULD COMPLY
<u>BUILDING GENERAL</u>				
An <u>EIA</u> will be required for any new development in sensitive areas eg. the river properties –see NEMA above	NEMA	NEMA GPNR	Yes	
No <u>DOUBLE STOREY</u> dwellings are allowed	GLUBR	GPNR SPLUM	Yes	
All <u>BUILDING PLANS</u> will be submitted to GPNR for motivation of compliance to building guidelines before submitting to Municipality	GLUBR	GPNR	Yes	
All <u>BUILDING PLANS</u> must then be submitted & approved by Ba-Phalaborwa Municipality prior to any construction	SPLUM NBR	May not be altered	Yes	
<u>PROXIMITY OF BUILDINGS</u> on a plot: The distance between the furthestmost two buildings may not exceed 100m	GLUBR	GPNR	Yes	
<u>RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES</u>				
<u>ONE PRIVATE DWELLING PER STAND +SQ – river 12ha</u>	TITLE DEED, TEG SPLUM	GPNR SPLUM	Yes	
<u>ONE PRIVATE DWELLING PER STAND + SQ – inland 25ha</u>	GLUBR SPLUM	GPNR SPLUM	Yes	
<u>MAXIMUM BUILDING FOOTPRINT</u> 450m2 including SQ	GLUBR	GPNR	Yes	



<u>COMMERCIAL/CAP PROPERTIES</u>				
– as per GPNR Constitution: <u>MAXIMUM</u> for GPNR is 12 CAP's, 200 guest beds and 1 bed per 2 ha	CONST	CONST	Yes	
<u>PERMANENT OCCUPANTS</u> : owners & family + servants may not exceed no. of guest beds	CONST	CONST	Yes	
<u>MAX FOOTPRINT</u> of all roofed structures (including temporary structures) is limited to 85m2 per guest bed	CONST	CONST SPLUM	Yes	
DESCRIPTION	APPLICABLE LAW, BASE REGULATIONS	AUTHORITY THAT CAN CHANGE THIS RESTRICTION	WILL BE ENFORCED	OWNERS SHOULD COMPLY
<u>GRIETJIE SPECIFICS</u>				
<u>EXPOSURE OF BUILDING</u> : The top of the roof line must be below the surrounding horizon	GLUBR	GPNR		Yes
<u>ROOF – COLOUR</u> to match weathered thatch or other dry bush colours (charcoal, khaki- brown)	GLUBR	May not be altered	Yes	
<u>WALLS – COLOUR</u> of paint to blend into surrounding environment (Use shades of brown, khaki-earthen colours; Avoid terracotta, ochre, yellow, orange, grey or white)	GLUBR	May not be altered	Yes	
<u>LIGHT POLLUTION</u> – direct lights may not be visible from neighbours or passers-by (use down lighters)	CONST	May not be altered	Yes	
<u>OVERALL DEVELOPMENT</u> footprint (including fenced-in areas) : maximum 2,000 m2	GLUBR	GPNR		Yes
<u>BUSH CLEARING</u> limited to development area and access roads only	GLUBR	GPNR		Yes
<u>BUSH THINNING</u> : allowed with advice & permission from GPNR	GLUBR	GPNR		Yes
<u>NOISE POLLUTION</u> – No barking dogs allowed, use of power tools prohibited on weekends	CONST	GPNR	Yes	



<u>GAME DRIVE</u> tracks on private properties : not encouraged	GLUBR	GPNR		Yes
<u>GAME DRIVE</u> tracks on private properties : may not be graded mechanically	GLUBR	GPNR	Yes	

Should the existing footprints exceed the limitations of the regulations above, owners may then not increase their current footprints and it is rather suggested that owners demolish obsolete buildings and unused structures in order to reduce the overall development of Grietjie thus ensuring a much more environmentally conscious reserve.

Grietjie, forming part of the greater Kruger National Park, has limited resources and our properties are the only of their kind in the world. We have an immense responsibility to lead by example in living in such close proximity with nature in a protected area. We are striving forth to achieve the official Protected Area status and the environment should thus take priority over individual interests, a measure that can be achieved by merely being sensitive and thoughtful. The committee is willing to offer expert professional advice to all landowners being slightly insecure about individual and site-specific challenges. Only with the goodwill and co-operation of all property owners can we achieve our desired status.

Further architectural guidelines to the regulations above will be submitted for approval as an Annexure to this document.



Annexure 2: Game drive code of conduct

GAME DRIVE CODE OF CONDUCT

1. Guides / Drivers should **never** be under the influence of alcohol or drugs.
2. A maximum speed limit of **40km/h** on tar roads to be adhered to at all times. For optimum game viewing a driving speed of between 10 and 15kph is recommended.
3. Do not trespass on properties if you have no permission from the owner to be on their land.
4. **NO OFF ROAD DRIVING AT ALL.**
5. The following maximum number of vehicles per sighting are to be adhered to:
 - 5.1 Lion, Elephant, Buffalo and all general wildlife: 3 Vehicles
 - 5.2 Leopard, Cheetah, Wild dog and Rhinoceros: 2 Vehicles
 - 5.3 If this number of vehicles is already at the sighting **PLEASE** wait your turn until a vehicle departs and then take your turn.
6. Use common sense when viewing game at close distances. **IF ANY DOUBT** a safe distance of 15-20 meters is recommended; this can increase depending on circumstances. **DO NOT APPROACH TOO CLOSE TO DANGEROUS GAME, UNLESS YOU HAVE THE EXPERIENCE AND KNOWLEDGE OF THE ANIMAL, AND THE ABILITY TO DEAL WITH THE CONSEQUENCES IF THINGS GO AWRY.**
7. No one is permitted to stand up in the vehicle at a sighting.
8. No drinking, eating or smoking is permitted at a sighting or in the vicinity of other vehicles.
9. No littering in the bush. All cigarette butts and toilet paper to be taken back to camp in appropriate containers.
10. No one is permitted to exit a vehicle and approach any animal anywhere.
11. **PICK UP ANY LITTER YOU SEE IN THE BUSH** (provided it is safe to do so).
12. Noise levels in or out the vehicle are to be controlled.
13. Guests to remain fully clothed at all times. Shirts may not be removed.
14. Respect all wildlife. Do not put pressure or cause animals to feel threatened. Maintain the recommended safety distances. **USE YOUR EXPERIENCE AND COMMON SENSE. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES MUST ANIMALS BE SUBJECT TO DOOR BANGING, HOOTING, WHISTLING OR THE LIKE IN AN EFFORT TO GET SOME REACTION FROM THE ANIMAL.**



15. Take note of the time spent at a sighting showing consideration to your fellow viewers who also wish to visit the sighting. Use your discretion. However, as a guideline if other vehicles are on standby for the same sighting a **15 minute viewing period** per vehicle should be sufficient.
16. Never drive between another vehicle and the sighting blocking off the view of that vehicle. Obtain permission if you need to move. Be considerate.
17. Always enter a sighting at low revs. This will lower the engine noise. Once in the sighting switch off your engine.
18. Assess the situation when arriving at a sighting. i.e. Escape routes (for the animals and yourselves), off road terrain, animals' behaviour, etc.
19. Do not block the path or direction of an animal's movement. No chasing of nervous animals is permitted.
20. If someone is viewing game, and you do not wish to stop, **PROCEED SLOWLY**. Do not spoil the other party's viewing and do not frighten the game.
21. Where possible pull to the side of the road in a sighting so that other vehicles can pass you without you needing to start up and move to make space.
22. Be courteous to other drivers and greet them as they pass you and if you have any information about interesting sightings pass this on so they too can enjoy a possible sighting.
23. If a sighting is being mismanaged, the Reserve Manager has the right to take control of a sighting permanently and his authority should be respected.
24. Members of the committee and reserve staff are specifically empowered to advise drivers when they are transgressing these guidelines.
25. If you are using a spotlight after dark, **NEVER** shine across or into a homestead or camp. Do not shine into oncoming vehicles. Do not shine directly into the eyes of the animals. If you have a spotlight that has lower settings of brightness, drop to this at closer ranges and use a red filter for predators where possible.
26. When driving at dark dip your lights to oncoming vehicles; if possible ride on park lights until you pass them. Remember your lights blind the driver and if they are viewing elephants for example, the driver will be unable to see what the elephants are doing or where they are moving towards, whilst your lights are blinding them. **LED light bars must be turned off when approaching other vehicles and / or elephants.**
27. Open vehicles / LDV's must be properly equipped for game drives. Passengers sitting on unsecured chairs or in the load bay of an LDV (bakkie) is unacceptable for game drives. **Only QUALIFIED trackers may sit on a trackers seat in the front of the vehicle.**



28. Pets in vehicles must be controlled at all times. No vehicle with barking dogs may stop at a sighting if other vehicles are present.

29. Be considerate of other people and animals at all times.